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NO UNDERTAKINGS ENTERED DURING THIS HEARING

Friday, April 28, 2006


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 10:00 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Can you hear me?  Are the mikes on?


MR. O'LEARY:  I don't need the mike.  I'm here.


MS. NOWINA:  We'll pretend that we do.  Next thing I need is my chair up so I can see you.


Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in proceeding EB-2006‑0021, a hearing under the Board's own motion relating to the operations, evaluation and auditing of demand side management plans for natural gas utilities starting January 1st, 2007.


This hearing will result in orders under Section 36 of the OEB Act.  An Issues Conference involving Union Gas, Enbridge Gas Distribution, other parties and Board Staff was held on April 24th, 2006 to clarify issues and to identify proposed modifications and additions to the issues list, and we understand that the parties have not reached a complete settlement on the issues.  So we sit today to hear submissions on the issues and to consider if the proposed issues list is appropriate in defining the framework for the process.


My name is Pamela Nowina.  I will be the Presiding Member in this proceeding.  Joining me on the Panel are fellow Board Members, Mr. Paul Vlahos and Mr. Ken Quesnelle.


Can I have appearances, please, perhaps first from Enbridge Gas?


APPEARANCES:

MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Dennis O'Leary.  To my left is Mr. Robert Bourke and to my right is Mr. Mike Brophy and Norm Ryckman.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

And from Union Gas?


MR. SMITH:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Crawford Smith, counsel appearing on behalf of Union Gas.  To my right is Bryan Goulden from Union Gas.


MS. NOWINA:  Good morning, Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  Good morning.


MS. NOWINA:  From other parties?


MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar for Board Staff.  Madam Chair, with me is Mr. Michael Bell and on my right Mr. Alan Fogwill.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


MR. JACKSON:  Madam Chair, my name is Malcolm Jackson.  I am here on behalf of Low-Income Energy Network.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Jackson.


MS. DeJULIO:  Good morning.  My name is Gia DeJulio.  I'm representing the Ontario Power Authority.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeJulio.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  John DeVellis for the HVAC Coalition Inc.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel.  Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe.


MS. NOWINA:  Good morning.


MR. POCH:  Good morning.  David Poch on behalf of Green Energy Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Poch, thank you.


MR. DINGWALL:  Good morning.  Brian Dingwall for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Michael Buonaguro for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. RUBIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Norman Rubin, here for Energy Probe.


MS. DADE:  Good morning, Madam Chair, and Members of the Board.  Christine Dade from Direct Energy.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MS. NOWINA:  Before we begin, we have some preliminary matters.  Does anyone else have any preliminary matters?

All right.  The first one we would like to deal with is the request for late intervention from HVAC.  HVAC, is HVAC represented here this morning?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, good morning, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis, do you want to speak to your request for intervention?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  Madam Chair, HVAC has decided to request intervention status after the proposed issues list was circulated after the Issues Conference on Monday, and at this point we anticipate our involvement will be restricted to the issues of ‑‑ the contested issues 14.3 and 14.4 having to do with the proposal for a rental program on the part of the utilities.


 As I say, the reason we have submitted our intervention late is it hadn't come to our attention until the issues were added to the proposed issues list after the Issues Conference.  We respectfully request that our request be granted.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  

Any submissions or concerns about Mr. DeVellis's intervention?  

All right, Mr. DeVellis, we will grant that intervention.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, you invited people to speak up if they have any preliminary matters.  I should just mention there are two matters you may want to treat as preliminary to deal with in the course of the day, but I should give you notice.


One is not noted in italics on the list, a slight wording change we would like to propose to issue 6.1, which I don't think is contentious, and I can address that whenever you wish.


The other is something that I raised with my friends, counsel for the utilities, this morning; that is, that issue 3.2, as presently worded, simply asks whether there should be a common TRC guide that specifies input assumptions, and I went back and looked at the evidence and it seemed to me that the utilities are, indeed, asking for more than the question of whether there should be a guide.  They're actually asking for approval of the specific guide with all of the input assumptions that they have, and so I think we are going to need clarity on that.  


Depending on what the Board's views are on that, there may be a problem with the Procedural Order as it stands, because the discovery process, the interrogatory process, is a foreshortened one in this case.  I believe it is written questions by May 8th and oral answers a few days later.  


If we are, in fact, getting, in this hearing as opposed to the implementation stage, into a debate about those many inputs, I am concerned that is going to be a problem.  I don't know if I have already started debating the issue.  I apologize.


MS. NOWINA:  I think what we will do, Mr. Poch, is we have a couple of topics on the uncontested issues.  Board Counsel has a question and Board Staff have some questions I think you're aware of, so why don't we do it in that order.  We will do the Board Panel's questions, we will do Board Staff's concerns about the uncontested issues, and then we will do yours about the uncontested issues.  Then we will move into the contested issues, if that is satisfactory with everyone.


We will move to the Board Panel question on the uncontested issues.  It's a pretty straightforward question.  If you go to issue 1.7 and 1.9, our question simply is:  What's the difference between those two issues?  Is there a substantive difference or any difference?  If someone would like to comment on that, we would appreciate it.


MR. POCH:  The discussion on Monday was that 1.7 had to do with -- should there be any constraints on the utility to provide its program effort, how its program effort, if you will, worded as spending, should be targeted as between the different customer classes.  Is there some obligation to ensure coverage, for ‑‑ a portion of coverage, for example; whereas 1.9 was on the -- how the money finds its way into rates.  It may be, of course, that 1.9 follows whatever the direction is, if there is to be one in 1.7.  But it was felt that, for clarity, the two had to be ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Those are distinct?


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, if I might suggest something.  It is now clearer to me exactly what the distinction is, but I am wondering if Mr. Poch would like to comment on this.  For greater clarity, if we could add to 1.9:  How should the budget be allocated between customer classes in rates?  I'm wondering if that ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  I think the other proposal that Mr. Vlahos made was that we could change 1.7 to say:  On what basis should the DSM spending be targeted amongst...


I think some rewording, to make it clear, would be helpful. 

Mr. Poch, do you have any recommendations or preference of those two?


MR. POCH:  It wasn't my proposal, this wording.  I can't recall whose it was.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, Madam Chair, it was my proposal.  We were concerned that we have an issue of program design and an issue of cost allocation, and anything that indicates that 1.7 is a program design question and 1.9 is a cost-allocation question would be great, because I agree with you that, on the face of it, it is ambiguous.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We are not going to try to figure out the wording right now.  Someone do that at the break and bring us back a proposed wording.  Can we do that?


Before we go any further, Mr. Millar, I would like to mark the issues list as an exhibit.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  So the proposed issues list, we will mark it as KI, “I” for Issues Day, 1.1.


EXHIBIT NO. KI-1.1:  PROPOSED ISSUES LIST

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Just as we're referring to it, then, Mr. Millar, another exhibit.  You sent out a document, I believe, expressing possible modifications to the issues list proposed by Board Staff.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right.


MS. NOWINA:  Can we mark that as well?


MR. MILLAR:  We can mark that as KI-1.2.  I believe everyone here has a copy.  If not, I think we have some extras.

EXHIBIT NO. KI-1.2:  ISSUES LIST MODIFICATIONS AS PROPOSED BY BOARD STAFF

MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  Does everyone have a copy of that document?  


So, Mr. Millar, can you take us through your proposed changes to the list?


DISCUSSION RE PROPOSED ISSUES LIST MODIFICATIONS:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Just by way of background, as everyone here is aware and I think the Board is aware, as well, when we issued the Procedural Order that established the conference and the Issues Day, Board Staff attached a draft issues list that would serve as the starting point for the discussion.  


Throughout the course of the Issues Conference, which was held on Monday, there were various wording changes and re-orderings proposed, and the result of that was the proposed issues list that you see before you today as Exhibit KI-1.1, and that of course includes several contested issues as well.


Upon reviewing the list, Board Staff had I guess a concern, is the right word, that some of the specificity in the original wording may have been lost.  We have highlighted four issues where essentially we would like to suggest that the Board may at least consider going back to the original wording from the draft list.


Those issues are 2.2, 12.3, 12.4, and then 13.3 actually on the draft issues list, which came out in the Procedural Order, I think is almost identical to issue ‑‑ what was originally 1.7.  And I think we felt that probably does belong under 13, which is targeted programs, but essentially it would be moving the draft issues list 1.7 to issue 13.3.


Madam Chair, I guess in each instance it is a concern of Board Staff that perhaps some of the ‑‑ we want there to be specific questions to which the Board can answer specific ‑‑ can provide specific answers.  And it was something that we would like the Panel to consider, at least, that perhaps the original wording might have been superior.


Essentially, I had the same submission on all four of those issues, so that's all I have to say about that.  I understand some of my friends may have some comments, I think Mr. Shepherd in particular, although there may be others, but I don't have much more to say on those.  I am, of course, happy to answer your questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Just to be very clear, Mr. Millar, so you're suggesting that issue 2.2, for example, that it be replaced with the wording that you are proposing, that issue 2.2 that's now on the proposed issues list would be replaced with the sentence that you have in KI-1.2?


MR. MILLAR:  That's correct, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  It is true in every case?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  We are suggesting that the Board should consider, at least, that the wording in KI-1.2 replace the wording in KI-1.1 for those enumerated issues.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, perhaps we should go first, since we are not ‑‑ Enbridge is not opposed to the modifications suggested by Mr. Millar.  We just have one comment, and that is really in respect of 13.3.  I hope I'm not jumping out of turn here.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  The comment is simply that if the answer to question 13.1 is answered in the negative, so that if you should decide that there should not be a minimum amount of funds, well, then, we really don't have to deal with 13.3.  So the question becomes, Would it be clearer if we were to say:  If so, what percentage of funds?  So it is very minor word-smithing issue.


The only other comment was that there may be parties who would wish to propose some other methodology to determine the minimum spending level, and we just wish to make it clear that it would be open to parties to propose something other than a savings target or a total resource-test type of methodology for the purposes of coming up with that means of determining the minimum amount.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  

Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  Union Gas takes no issue with the language proposed by Mr. Millar, nor with the suggestions put forward by Mr. O'Leary.  We are comfortable with either.  It certainly adopts the suggestion with respect to "if so".


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Anyone else?  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, the changes in the wording that are on the KI-1.1 were designed to ensure that the whole issue be dealt with and that there be no built-in assumptions.  So, for example, 2.2, as originally worded and as Mr. Millar is now proposing it be worded again, starts with the assumption that the correct TRC threshold, if there is one, is 1.0.


That's clearly an issue that is open to debate.  Just in the same way as when you do system expansion, there is a debate about what your test is for your cost-effectiveness, so, too, in a DSM program there would be a debate about what the appropriate test is.  


Right now, the effective threshold is in the order of four or five.  Why would you go back to one?


I mean, maybe you would, but the question is:  Is that a legitimate issue to debate?  The wording here starts with the premise:  Whatever you do with the threshold, it is 1.  That's not appropriate, in our view.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, can I ask you a question?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MS. NOWINA:  The wording of 2.2, as it is now worded, I'm wondering if we were using 2.2, if we need to add something about -- ask the first question:  Should a TRC threshold be established, and, if so, what should that threshold be?  There is no "if so".


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's exactly right.  The new wording deals with the first part, that is, do you test the portfolio or do you test the programs?  But it doesn't deal with the second part, which is, what should the test be?  


So I agree with you adding that would improve it.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Any support for Mr. Shepherd's position?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have comments specific to 13.3.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Any other comments regarding 2.2, then?


MR. JACKSON:  Yes.  LIEN would support Mr. Shepherd's position.  Madam Chair, you're suggesting that probably at the end it could be "if so", or, I guess the former:  Should the objective be for a TRC test of 1, something like that?  Is that correct?


MS. NOWINA:  Or what should it be?


MR. JACKSON:  What should it be, is just fine with us.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  With respect to the proposed changes to 13.3, I have two comments.  The first has to do with the second part of the proposed change.


The original 13.1 referred specifically to low‑income social housing, First Nations, residential, commercial and industrial programs.  And on the Issues Conference, there was quite a bit of discussion about that, and it was specifically restricted to the current 13.1, which now says:  “Minimum amount of funds directed towards specific sectors, low‑income sector,” et cetera.  


So low‑income was put back in as a specific example, because the whole targeted program issue came out of the Enbridge partial decision referring specifically to low‑income.  But 13.1 is now drafted to allow other potential programs to be submitted as being appropriate, without having to exhaustively list them in the issues list.


So in terms of drafting, if there is going to be a redraft of 13.3, that should be reflected so that something like in the plan should be allocated to targeted programs, i.e., low‑income. 


The second part, I agree with Enbridge's submission that the current 13.3 leaves it open for different ways of targeting the spending levels for targeted programs or for determining the targeted spending levels.  The new wording presupposes it is going to be a percentage of funds, targeted total resource cost.


So, in our submission, the 13.3 as drafted achieves what needs to be done or what needs to be ‑‑ it is the wording that should be accepted as being what allows the proper issues to be before the Board.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair.  I am a little bit concerned.  There, by the way, is a typo in 13.1 which I just noticed, and that is -- it should read:  “Specific sectors, e.g., low‑income,” et cetera.


That's what was, in fact, agreed to at the Issues Conference.  I think that was just inadvertently left out.


The intent of that section is for the Board to ask the question:  Should we, as a Board, be saying this particular sub-group, whatever it is - low‑income could be one of them; First Nations is another one; there could be any number of choices - should we as a Board be saying to a utility, X dollars into that should be put into that particular sub-group?  We don't know what those sub-groups could be.  There could be a lot of possibilities.


The second question, then, is:  If you've identified some and determined that, yes, you should be allocating particular efforts in particular areas, how should you decide who is in and who is out?  

The third is:  How do you decide how much?


I don't see how 13.3 adds anything to that.  The entire question is set out in 13.1 to 13.3.  What 13.3 does do is apply (a) -- the new proposed 13.3 does do two things.  It implies that there are only certain ways you can decide the amount of money, which is clearly not appropriate, and it implies there is only certain groups or certain categories that you can target.


So First Nations are not in, for example; hospitals are not on it.  The menu is reduced.  That doesn't allow the question to be answered properly, in our view.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar, as I look at the question ‑‑ the issues, it does raise the question about whether or not 13.3 makes sense as a replacement of 13.3, and 13.1 and 13.2 remain.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I tend to agree that the language in 13.1 should mirror 13.3, whatever it be.  So, for example, as Mr. Shepherd has pointed out ‑‑ sorry, Mr. Buonaguro, that where we say “directed to specific sectors in 13.1, for example, low‑income,” and then we have enumerated them in 13.3, there is a bit of a disconnect there, I guess.  I guess I would simply suggest that the language should be the same in both.


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  Thank you.  What about Mr. Shepherd's point that when you say in 13.3, “what percentage of the funds or savings target,” that that is creating an amount, essentially, which is the same thing that 13.1 does:  Should there be a minimum amount?


Aren't those two questions somewhat redundant?


MR. MILLAR:  One moment, Madam Chair.  

Madam Chair, I think 13.1 speaks of funds, but then when you get to 13.3, also added there are savings target and TRC benefits.  So I think it is a slightly larger issue in 13.3; whereas in 13.1, only funds are enumerated there.


MS. NOWINA:  We don't understand the answer, Mr. Millar.  I'm sorry.  That's a blunt way of putting it.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I know this is somewhat unusual, but I have our leading expert on DSM right here.  Rather than him whispering in my ear and me saying it into the microphone, I think it might be helpful to the Board and helpful to the parties if we have the person who is actually familiar with them to address it.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fogwill.  


MR. FOGWILL:  Thank you, Mr. Millar, Madam Chair.  No good deed goes unpunished.


The key element of the 13.3 that we were trying to identify is that it is not necessarily just the funding element of the allocation of the DSM effort that we are trying to explore and deal with.  It is whether or not there should be targeted volume amounts for each of the areas, for example, low‑income or First Nations, or whether there should be a total resource cost benefit attached to those, because those will vary, as well, in terms of a cost-effectiveness of the elements of the programs.


Funding itself doesn't necessarily lead to a specific savings target, nor does it lead to a specific total resource cost benefits target.  And there are questions that I believe the Panel needs to be aware of with respect to those other elements, that a simple view of the revised 13.1 and the other elements associated with that in that section 13 don't explore, which is:  Aside from the funding, should there be a savings target, or, aside from a savings target, should there be some form of cost-effectiveness target?


MS. NOWINA:  I'm not sure that the rewording precisely achieves that or explains that, but that's very helpful.


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I was going to suggest that we meld the language for the precise reason that Mr. Fogwill speaks of.  I think if we take 13.1 and include in it funds, or TRC, or savings, and then if we inject ‑‑ if we altered the 13.3 on the draft issues list to take out targeted savings, just say how should targeted levels be determined, referring to however ‑‑ in whatever form they're targeted, I think that would be the most expansive view.


In general, our submissions are that the list at this point should be set in a fairly expansive way.  I think that was the Board's intent in convening this hearing, that this be a full hearing.


MS. NOWINA:  Before I go back to Board Staff, how does everyone else feel about Mr. Poch's rewording?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, until Mr. Fogwill's elucidation of the issue, I hadn't twigged to the fact that that is what they were trying to do.  I agree with Mr. Poch that if we just add that into the existing 13.1 and make that slight amendment to 13.3, that fixes the problem.


MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think it accomplishes what they're asking for, too.


MR. MILLAR:  We're in agreement with that, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Have we heard everything from all the parties?


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I have one other item to raise, and that is with respect to Board Staff's proposed or reversion to issue 12.3.  My sense is that Board Staff's concern here is that, in general, you measure savings by reference to volumes saved, and they're trying to get at a narrower technical question of whether you use -- in a custom project you use some engineering estimate of what the savings will be or whether you actually have to go back a year or two later and measure again and see if the savings have materialized, and how you account for the possibility of things like that business ‑‑ the customer going out of business, what have you.


I certainly agree that is an issue that needs to be captured.  But the rewording of 12.3, as it appears in the draft issues list which we proposed, was, again, just to ensure that, as it may be the case in some situations, you want to measure savings in some other fashion, perhaps by reference to industry statistics, what have you, and that that not be precluded.


So, again, I would suggest, in the spirit of an inclusive list, that perhaps the Board Staff's issue 12.3 not supplant 12.3 but be in addition to it, so make it 12.4, and then we have both.


MS. NOWINA:  Comments on Mr. Poch's proposal on 12.3?


MR. MILLAR:  We have no objection to that, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Have we then concluded the submissions on the Board Staff changes to the proposed issues list?  I think we found a resolution there for the most part.  Good.


Thank you, Mr. Poch.  Do you want to talk to the uncontested issues that you have concerns with?


DISCUSSION RE UNCONTESTED ISSUES:



ISSUE 6.1:

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Perhaps I will start with 6.1, since I think it is very straightforward.  The list as currently written, which I am scrolling through, speaks of:  

“Should the LDCs have access to a DSMVA for over-spending of the DSM budget?”  

And it goes from there.


I think it is certainly the practice, to date, and it is envisioned in the company's ‑‑ both companies' evidence, I believe, that the DSMVA would also be available to return underspent funds.  So I just didn't want that to be lost and the Board to overlook that in addressing this in its eventual decision.


MS. NOWINA:  Do you have a suggested wording, Mr. Poch?


MR. POCH:  I just was going to add that the grammar doesn't really make sense about the LDCs having access.  It is really in addition to the DSMVA providing a vehicle for return of underspent funds, could be the preface to that line.  So it would read:  

“In addition to the DSMVA being a vehicle for the return to the customers of unspent funds, should the LDCs have access,” and so on.


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe we need to work on the wording, but perhaps we will just get comments on the principle.  Do we have support for Mr. Poch's proposal?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I think that was just inadvertent.  We left out the symmetry.


MS. NOWINA:  That doesn't surprise me.  Any other comments?


MR. SMITH:  We are certainly fine with it.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  

Mr. Poch, you had another one that you were concerned with?

ISSUE 3.2:


MR. POCH:  Yes.  Issue 3.2 on the list asks a question:  “Should there be a common guide to specify input assumptions?”


Obviously, that is a central issue that needs to get answered.  But the utilities, in their evidence, have actually filed a draft guide, and that draft guide includes a lengthy list of numbers, input assumptions.


So if the Board were ‑‑ the concern is, if the Board were to answer "yes" to the question posed in the current 3.2, and then go on, that you need to have an evidentiary base, and the parties want to have an opportunity to test some of those numbers that we've either identified in recent cases our problem, or there are new numbers in there, what have you.


Just from a preliminary review, we have satisfied ourselves there are certainly several numbers that jump off the page as presenting an issue, and presumably on closer scrutiny there would be others.


So at present there are two questions.  At present, the issue as phrased doesn't go that far, which is maybe the correct phrasing, if that is the intent.  But my sense is my friends did not intend that to be the case.


Second, if my friends do wish to seek approval of those assumptions, we are concerned that the Board schedule for submission of questions on May 8th, and then the companies responding orally in a Technical Conference, perhaps supplemented with materials I believe on the 10th or 11th, wouldn't really give much opportunity for a proper investigation.


We would also be fairly pressed in terms of getting our questions in.  I'm not convinced we couldn't do it, but our questions are going to be ‑‑ because we won't have an opportunity to sit down with the companies and better isolate where the problems are, we are going to end up asking interrogatories which will tend to err on the side of caution, and we are going to be asking them to provide everything, which is a lot of material, and that that may be a problem for them; less of a problem for us posing the interrogatories.  

It may be with more time we could be a little more directed if we had the opportunity to have a bit of an iterative process with the companies, just on an informal basis, to better inform ourselves where the problems may be.


The alternative, it would seem to me, is that the Board be explicit that if there is to be such a guide, the testing of the particular numbers would be part of the implementation phase for the first period plan.  That's the alternative.  That would give us a little bit more lead-time.


It is, of course, tending to descend into the minutiae when you get into that, and perhaps more in keeping with the generic nature of this proceeding, that we might want to stay away from that.  I think it can work either way.  But if it is in, it seems to me we need to deal with the procedural issue.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's get submissions on this in two parts.  First is the wording as it is here and your interpretation of what parties really want agreed to.  Then, secondly, if it is, do we have an issue regarding the timing of interrogatories?  


So, regarding the first part, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, I will only speak to the first part.  

Madam Chair, we understood that this generic proceeding was going to ultimately lead to orders from the Panel that would include a common guide which would be available for utilities, intervenors, to reference in future proceedings and we wouldn't be leaving the consideration of those inputs and assumptions until a subsequent rate case.  


I mean, obviously the situation arises that you would find different positions being taken by different parties in respect of each of the rate applications that are filed by Union and by Enbridge in the very next proceeding.


We understood there was going to be a common guide, something akin to what the Board has now approved in respect to the electrics.  It is my understanding, and I stand to be corrected here, but it is my understanding that what is before the Panel in this proceeding is essentially the same inputs and assumptions that were recently considered in the CDM proceeding, and that, generally speaking, with the exception of perhaps several that Mr. Poch has identified, most of the inputs and assumptions would be the subject of approval and agreement that they're appropriate for future use.  


So there really isn't ‑‑ there won't be an opening of the floodgates, as some might suggest.  But it is our respectful submission this is the appropriate place to ultimately settle, to the extent possible, the inputs and assumptions and have an approved guide for use in subsequent rate proceedings.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I adopt Mr. O'Leary's submissions and echo his comments.  It was certainly Union's impression, with respect to this proceeding, that the intent by the Board was to develop a rules‑based approach to DSM, which would eliminate, to the extent possible, the recurrence of this issue in subsequent rate proceedings.


Union has with Enbridge filed a joint handbook, which is available in the evidence, and it is certainly critical to Union that that be available for approval by the Board in this proceeding.


If there is an issue with respect to timing, and I am not convinced that there will be, but if there is an issue with respect to timing, I think that that can be managed.  We're not actually going to be in the hearing until July, so I certainly think there is adequate time.  


And Union certainly undertakes to proceed expeditiously to answer whatever interrogatories are necessary, that they be asked.  I don't know whether we will need an extension or not, because I haven't seen them, obviously, but we would certainly be prepared to work hard to get answers, because this is very important to us.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  I am going to ask Board Staff for submissions, but first I would like to get submissions from everyone else.  

Any other comments?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I guess what Mr. Poch has pointed out clearly is that however you decide this, the issue as it is currently framed doesn't tell us what the real issue is.  So either it should have added to it something ‑‑ a question like:  How should the guide be determined, if you're not going to determine it in this proceeding?  Or, if you are going to determine it in this proceeding, then we need an issue that says:  Which, if any, of the input assumptions in the proposed guide should be approved?  What input assumptions should be approved for each measure?


Our preference is for the latter, even though procedurally it is going to double the length of time of this proceeding, it seems to me, because we agree with the utilities that the sooner they know what the rules are, the sooner they can get on with the job.


So I think we should just sort of suck it up and do it.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

Anyone else?


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I highlighted what the issue is, but I never actually gave you our bottom line on it, so perhaps I could.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.


MR. POCH:  It is our intention to lead evidence about what the process should be for -- what I think everyone would like to see here is some streamlining of the approval process for inputs, and so on, and certainly a clarification of that process.


While I can't yet say what we'll be recommending to you precisely, it had been our hope that we would have had a discussion about a good process that maintains accountability and transparency, but achieves economies and reduced regulatory burden, and fruitful discussion and so on.


Our concern here is if we go on to approve this guide at this time, then we will have sidestepped that, the opportunity to put in place a process which -- and use that process the first time through that we think would bring a better result.


Indeed, we are anticipating putting forward a process which wouldn't, at first instance, have the Board sit in a hearing room and have to go through a list of 400 inputs, or however many are in dispute; that the Board, in effect, would become a court of appeal where this other process doesn't reach resolution.


It seems to me what we're doing here is reverting to the status quo, where the only opportunity is to batter each other in front of the Board, and I think that is exactly what everybody has been finding unsatisfactory.  So that is our concern.  


So while I understand my friends' need to get on -- they want to get to the implementation stage and they're concerned -- I'm sure they're concerned that if we don't deal with these numbers in this case, it's going to slow things up.  We have sympathy for that.  


I'm wondering if there is some way we can debate the first question and try to get a resolution to what the process for this would be before proceeding to that second step, and that is why earlier I suggested the possibility that perhaps this await the implementation phase.


I think that is really the point I was trying to make.


MS. NOWINA:  Before I go back to the utilities, and I will, is there anyone that supports Mr. Poch's suggestion?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Pollution Probe does, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.  Exactly as it is stated?  Nothing to add?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. O'Leary, any comments on Mr. Poch's ‑‑


MR. O'LEARY:  Very briefly, Madam Chair.  The issue 3.2 as worded is:  Should there be a common guide?  Well, I would interpret that as allowing Mr. Poch to argue that there should not be a common guide, and he can put forward whatever methodology he thinks is appropriate.


The utilities have taken the position that there should be a common guide and that this Panel is the appropriate body to ultimately approve that as part of your order, and it would be for use in future proceedings.


I think Mr. Poch is trying to have it both ways.  He is trying to have a kick at it now and say, Let's eliminate the common guide and do whatever methodology he put forward, and if he is unsuccessful, have another kick at it in a subsequent rate case, which he calls the implementation phase, at which time he will attack it again at that point.


Our respectful submission is that this is the appropriate time to deal with it, and that I share Mr. Smith's view that it is not likely to unduly prejudice the timetable in this proceeding.  We will work as diligently as possible to respond to any interrogatories and the evidence that my friend may put before this Panel.


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, perhaps I haven't been clear.  Before Mr. O'Leary gives up his opportunity to respond, I should clarify.  We're not saying there should not be a common guide.  We are just saying the way you -- as Mr. Shepherd posed the question earlier:  How should the guide be determined?  That needs to be decided first.  It may be that we conclude that it should not be determined in this hearing room; that it should be determined in some other more streamlined process.


We don't want to give up that opportunity.  So I don't want my friend to be under the impression we are opposed to a common guide.


MR. O'LEARY:  Well, Madam Chair, I'm somewhat amiss to understand what sort of more streamlined process we would ever come up with that would ultimately result in an approval from a Panel with an order that does not involve an oral proceeding.  This proceeding has been constituted for, amongst other things, this very issue.


So whether you call it a common guide, whatever approach my friend comes up with, this proceeding is the time to deal with the approval of the common approach.  And our submission is that the inputs and assumptions that have been considered previously are appropriate and before you to be approved in this proceeding.


MS. NOWINA:  Thanks, Mr. O'Leary.  

Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  I adopt entirely Mr. O'Leary's submission.  In my view, as a matter of simple regulatory efficiency, what Mr. Poch is proposing does not make any sense.  We are going to be in July in this hearing and a decision will follow that later in the year.  We do not have a 2007 DSM plan, either Enbridge or Union.  Presumably one is going to follow from this proceeding, and I would have thought, from a regulatory efficiency perspective, the appropriate thing to do would be to determine as much as possible the rules that will be in place for 2007 and beyond.  


What the utilities have proposed will accomplish that goal, and what Mr. Poch is proposing will not.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  

Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I have nothing to add to the comments you have already heard.   

[Board Panel confers]


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Poch, I want to better understand your position.  Perhaps you can first help me:  What assumptions are we talking about?  Can you give me some examples of the input assumptions we are talking about?


MR. POCH:  I will turn it up.


MR. VLAHOS:  I don't have any documents of the pre-filed evidence.


MR. POCH:  That's fine.  I will try to explain them as I get to them.  


The reference I was referring to can be found, for example, for the record, at Exhibit B, tab 3, schedule 1, which is the draft DSM handbook that the utilities have jointly provided you.


If you would turn to -- beginning at page 16 thereof are a series of tables, roughly half a dozen pages of tables, which include, measure by measure, a listing of measures, load type, cubic metres electricity saved, litres of water saved, equipment life, free-ridership rate.  So they're the actual measures, specifically.


I can offer a little more advice to you of what we envisage, which is some -- presumably some task group with ‑‑ some task group with stakeholder representation, experts nominated by stakeholders who give this a first go‑over to see if there is consensus before it need be litigated.  So it is sort of like an expert's ADR, if you will, and that may well be the same experts that we would propose be the ‑‑ supervise the audit for the same reasons, at first instance.


MR. VLAHOS:  The alternative is that we do have some numbers by the utilities, and your client is proposing to file evidence, as well.  Those numbers may be different?


MR. POCH:  Well, I can assure you that if the determination of the numbers is to take place in this forum, yes, we will file evidence, and, yes, there will be several instances where there will be different numbers.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  So the Board will have to judge what is a better number or the Board can say, Well, there maybe some legitimate differences here and we would rather have another forum.  So the decision can be made at that time?


MR. POCH:  It is possible to do both, sir, I think is what you're suggesting, which is that we file that evidence; we go to the trouble of examining them formally through this process and filing that evidence, and the Board may decide to make a decision on those differences, or, if it agrees with us that there is a better process to go through first, send it off to that process.  That would have presumably be a Board decision about how, in future, assumptions should be dealt with, which is really what we are after.  


We want a solution that is long‑standing.  It is not just, every time there is a change in assumptions we have to come before the Board and have ‑‑ and litigate these assumptions.


We are looking for a more durable, streamlined solution that alleviates the Board's burden but maintains accountability and transparency.  So that is why we feel it is very important to get to that question.


MR. VLAHOS:  But you would agree that we would all be better informed -- the Panel would be better informed to make that determination once we know what the differences may be.


MR. POCH:  It may help you understand what the debate is, even if you choose not to embark on resolving it.  That's a fair comment, sir, yes.  As long as we have notice, we can do that, we can provide you that.  And the Board may wish to review as to whether it wishes to go the second step.


MR. VLAHOS:  On that scenario, what would you need by way of timing?


MR. POCH:  As I said, I think we can manage to put in the questions, but they're not going to be very targeted right now.  The more time we have, presumably the more opportunity we have to have our experts get on the phone and have these experts see if they can informally satisfy themselves and say, Okay, we don't need to even put in interrogatories.


But if the company, as they have suggested to you, are content to take the first approach and give us the information download, we can manage to get our questions in.  I can't imagine that the utilities are going to have sufficient time to respond in the few days that has been allotted between the submission of questions and Technical Conference.  I will let them speak to that, though.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you, sir.


MS. NOWINA:  I think they have spoken to that and said they would make every attempt to respond in that time frame.

Is that correct, Mr. Smith, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. SMITH:  It is certainly our intention to bend over backwards to get whatever needs to be done, done.  I don't want to over-commit, having not seen Mr. Poch's list of questions.  If it is so burdensome that more time is necessary, it might be that we have to do some by way of undertaking, which we will provide at a later date.  But certainly our intention is to have the issue brought forward and dealt with, and we will work hard to do that.


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, I am not certain what Mr. Poch means by “information download,” so I am reluctant to commit to that.  But the fact is -- perhaps I should mention this.  In fact, the numbers that are in the evidence have been seen by Board Panels before.  In fact, Ms. Nowina, some of these numbers are the ones that were approved by the Panel late last year.  


So there are not a lot of new numbers coming forward.  So we would hope that it wouldn’t be an unduly onerous task.


MR. VLAHOS:  It's a different Panel, though.


MR. O'LEARY:  It is a different Panel.


MS. NOWINA:  And we never know, do we, Mr. O'Leary?  All right, thank you very much.  I think that concludes the submissions.


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, Mr. Rubin has pointed out to me that ‑‑


MR. RUBIN:  Either way, but I believe, Madam Chair, that the letters "i.e." in issue 3.2 are in error; that certainly the kind of discussion we've just had would suggest that the discussion be much wider than whether or not the utilities' submissions should be adopted holus bolus.  So that "i.e." should be changed to "along the lines of" or "e.g.", or "something like", but not "i.e." 


MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone have any concerns replacing "i.e." with "e.g."?  Done.  We've made a decision.  There you go.  All right, thank you very much.  I believe that we may now move on to the contested issues, since we've had so much fun with the uncontested issues.


ISSUE 1.3:


MR. DINGWALL:  Just one point, Madam Chair, before we go there.  I hope it is not a contentious one.  With respect to issue 1.3, CME came out of the Issues Conference with the presumption that the scope of issue 1.3 is quite broad.  I am making that simple statement for the record, because we may have to rely on that when we put forth our questions and get whatever responses we come back to.


I don't know if the companies wish to respond to that, but that was the impression that we were left with, after specifically canvassing that point.


MS. NOWINA:  Any comment on that?


MR. SMITH:  Not really.  I'm not quite sure what my friend is getting at, but 1.3 seems to ask a fairly broad question, which would allow people to make submissions on whatever mechanism they wanted to put forward as to how the budget should be determined.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, I think the issue as worded gives extreme flexibility to a party to present whatever case it sees fit.


MS. NOWINA:  It seems fairly broad to me, as well, Mr. Dingwall.


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  

DISCUSSION RE CONTESTED ISSUES:

ISSUE 1.10:


MS. NOWINA:  If we go to contested issue 1.1, do we have a proponent to that issue who would like to speak first.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We do, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if it is worthwhile, before I launch into this, to ask whether anybody is still opposing the inclusion of this issue?


I have heard from a number of people that they're now accepting it should be on, and there are only a few I haven't heard from.  So I wonder if we could just ask whether there is opposition.


MS. NOWINA:  I should clarify.  I think I said 1.1.  I believe it is 1.10.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. O'LEARY:  We are still opposed, Madam Chair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MS. NOWINA:  Lead your argument, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  The current model that the utilities use is they do their DSM in house.


We wish to propose that, in this time frame, this multi‑year period, assuming it is a multi‑year period, that the utilities be directed by the Board to do some proportion of their DSM through an RFP out into the marketplace, for a couple of reasons:  First of all, to learn about that delivery mechanism in Ontario, whether the marketplace can deliver and how broad the ability is to deliver; and, secondly, for price discovery, so that the Board has a benchmark as to the costs of these programs relative to the internal costs.


It is the classic "build or buy" question.  In Ontario, we have never tested the buy side of it, the possibility that you go out into the market and buy it.


So we will, I think, want to propose as part of this process, for example, that Enbridge, let's say, be ordered by the Board to buy $20 million of TRC from the marketplace instead of doing it themselves during this period, so that the Board can then at the end of the period see, how did that work; were there benefits to it; did it cost less?  Those sorts of things.  We would like the opportunity to debate that question.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Anyone supporting Mr. Shepherd's position?  Mr. Dingwall?


MR. DINGWALL:  Yes.  Over the past number of years, the context of DSM has changed significantly from being something of a sideshow into something with increasing budgets year upon year, and increasing political and economic focus, to the point where now the province, on a generic basis, has created an agency called the Ontario Power Authority, who are in fact here with a view to taking on more of an active role in dealing with demand management of various forms.


To that extent, the question that is a very key one in this process is:  What do ratepayers pay for it?  What are the incentives that are provided to the utilities and is there the bang for the buck associated with that?


As Mr. Shepherd has said, this assumption, the presumption that the utilities need a form of incentive beyond a rate of return for this, has yet to be tested with the marketplace in order to determine what appropriate comparator there might be with respect to the costing of the programs.  


It is not just the cost of the programs that we need to look at.  It is also the costs of all of the incentive mechanisms.


So for those reasons and for reasons that we'll elaborate on further when we get to issue 1.11, we support the suggestion of Mr. Shepherd.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

Anyone else?


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I interpreted the distinction between 1.10 and 1.11.  1.10 still has the utilities being accountable to this Board, even though this Board may call upon them to contract out some or all of their portfolio acquisition; whereas 1.11 goes to the next step and envisages other legislative or regulatory arrangements.


So with that, if that ‑‑ with that understanding, we are supportive of letting Mr. Shepherd have his day in court.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  

Anyone else in support of Mr. Shepherd's proposal?


MR. JACKSON:  LIEN is in support, Madam Chair.  I have nothing further to add by way of comments, though.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Jackson.  

In opposition?  Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Madam Chair. Perhaps I can first address the framing of the question, as I understand, by Mr. Shepherd and those that are supporting it.


As I understood Mr. Shepherd's submissions, he's not suggesting that this question would allow for this proceeding to consider whether or not gas utilities should be undertaking DSM at all.


I didn't understand that to be, from the notice of proceeding.  It is presumed that gas utilities, given the objectives in the Act, the policies of the government, that gas utilities will be undertaking DSM.  So I didn't hear any of my friends suggest that the wording of 1.10 would take you down that route, which leads me to the framing of the question, which Mr. Shepherd put quite well.


The question becomes whether or not the Board should order Union and Enbridge Gas Distribution to, for example, undertake $20 million of DSM service delivery through a third party.  Well, we have to add another word to that, and that is, you've got an unregulated third party.  Our respectful submission is that is neither practical nor is it lawful, as a matter of your jurisdiction, for this Board to be making orders that would, in effect, require a regulated utility to undertake its business through an unregulated third party.  


There is great danger to that, we suggest.  Without going into a long legal dissertation on this, but obviously your powers are limited by the Act and primarily in respect of this proceeding by Section 36.


Indeed, I note from the Notice of Proceeding that you are contemplating making orders under Section 36.  It's our respectful submission the Board does not have jurisdiction over an unregulated DSM service provider in that they do not sell or distribute natural gas.


Your jurisdiction, we submit, is to prove just and reasonable rates.  And within the context of a cost-of-service application, that may involve your consideration of whether or not the various costs that a company has incurred are considered reasonable.  You may deny them if you felt they weren't reasonable.  But to order that company to undertake a portion of its business through an unregulated third party, we submit, is outside of your jurisdiction.


As a practical matter, this proceeding is about how natural gas utilities undertake DSM.  Therefore, our view is that from a practical perspective -it wasn't contemplated by the Board in its creation of the Notice of Proceeding - you would be looking at, first of all, whether or not gas utilities should be doing that.  That appears to be off the table.  Secondly, whether or not somebody else should be doing it or whether somebody else who is not before you is in a better position to deliver natural gas DSM.


As a matter of practicality, this Panel and the Board does not have control over unregulated third party service providers.  They can't be ordered to be here.  Some have appeared voluntarily today, in that we have now Direct Energy and HVAC, but there are other unregulated third party service providers that are not here.  If an order was to be issued requiring a utility to utilize these services as a practical matter, how can the Board be certain that that third party service provider will participate in any future proceeding when there is a review of what they have done?  


How could this Panel or the Board require a gas utility to force a third party to provide the information that the Board would consider necessary for an adequate review of what it has undertaken?


So, as a practical matter, we submit that the question is of no value, in that at the end of the day the answer you must come up with is that you are not in a position to so order the utilities to undertake DSM through an unregulated third party.


The framing of the question also presupposes that there exists already a market for the delivery of DSM, natural gas DSM, by unregulated third parties.  If such a market exists, then our submission would be, Well, it is appropriate for the Board to retrain from making such an order, because if a competitive market exists, there is no need for you to be stepping into the debate in the first place.


What this proceeding is about is setting the rules, going forward for the delivery of DSM by natural gas utilities and not the delivery by third party unregulated entities.


Madam Chair, for those reasons, we submit that 1.10 does not have a place on the issues list.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  

Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  I adopt Mr. O'Leary's submissions with respect to the practical concerns, but, more importantly, with respect to the jurisdiction of the Board, Union has serious concerns about the appropriateness, from a jurisdictional standpoint.  Frankly, I don't see that the Board has the jurisdiction to make such an order that Union provide DSM services through an unregulated entity.  Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  

Anyone else opposing Mr. Shepherd's proposal?


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, if I could just ‑‑ I don't really have a problem.  I don't want to make any submissions on the issues themselves, but whenever the issue of jurisdiction comes up, I think it is incumbent on Board Staff to at least try to provide some assistance to the Panel.  


Again, I haven't considered this before, so I am still sort of mulling it over.  But my submission is that Section 36 has a very broad power.  It does allow ‑‑ there are some cases to that effect that I, in fact, was referring to a few days ago, but I don't have them here and for my friends so that is not very fair.  


But Section 36, I think just on the face of it, is worded very broadly.  Again, I am still thinking about this, but many of the points Mr. O'Leary raises are valid ones.  

For example, he points out it would be very difficult for the Board to monitor the programs if they were farmed out to a third party, for example.  However, I am not certain that goes to the jurisdictional ‑‑ the jurisdiction of the Board to make that order.  I think it certainly goes to the appropriateness and the Board's ability to monitor these types of programs, but I am not convinced it is, strictly speaking, a jurisdictional issue.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


MS. DADE:  Madam Chair, my understanding, when I read this, the 1.10, I don't read it as absolute, as taking it directly from a third party.  My question would be:  Why wouldn't the utility want to procure a competitive DSM product in partnership with themselves to do this?  So I don't understand it as being separate and totally outside of the realm of the actual process.


I would see that the utility would still run the program, but actually try to get the best product they could for their customer, because in the end that is what we want, the best competitive product on DSM for the customer.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Dade, is that right?


MS. DADE:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Dade, the wording of 1.10 ‑‑ that noise, by the way, is probably that somebody has their BlackBerry on, just for future reference.  


The wording of 1.10 does say the utilities be required to procure DSM from other parties.


MS. DADE:  But completely outside, when it says “required,” Mr. O'Leary said that it is like a separate thing, totally.  But I read that as utilities would do ‑‑ would be required, but like a partnership or whatever, not to be totally separate.  It would still be part of the regulated business that they're doing.


MS. NOWINA:  I understand.  Thank you, Ms. Dade.

Anyone else have any comments before we go back to Mr. Shepherd for a final word?  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, four comments.  First, in response to Ms. Dade, the intent of the issue was to allow discussion of precisely what she says we shouldn't be discussing; that is whether the utility should simply say:  For this chunk of our DSM, all we want to do is write the cheque.  We'll have the budget.  We will hand you, ACME Limited, a cheque.  You go deliver X amount of DSM.  So that is exactly what we want to test out.  That is how you get price discovery.


But I have three comments with respect to the submissions of Mr. O'Leary and Mr. Smith.  

The first is ‑‑ and you know I'm a lawyer, but sometimes we have too many lawyers in the room and we forget the reality.  The reality is that the vast majority of the things done by Enbridge and by Union are procured from unregulated third parties.  That's how they run their business.  Almost everything ‑‑ not almost everything, but way, way more than half of what they do is procured by unregulated third parties.


So to suggest that this Board can't consider delivery of things ‑‑ of utility activities through a third party is just not sensible.  That's what they do.


Furthermore, the Board often looks at build-or-buy type questions as part of the review of what is the best way for the utility, the most prudent way for the utility, to do what it is supposed to do as a franchise holder.  So, for example, when we look at things like CIS, when we look at customer care, when we look at trenching, things like that, if the utility is doing something in house and there is evidence to suggest that they could do it cheaper by outsourcing it, or vice versa, the Board, on a routine basis, will look at that and say, Is this the most prudent way to do it?  


That's all I'm asking; that at some point we have to look at whether all of it or part of it can be more prudently done a different way.


So two final comments:  First of all, this is not something new.  This is something that is done elsewhere in a number of other jurisdictions, with various levels of success, by the way.  It is not always successful.  Sometimes it has crashed and burned, but in other places it has been very successful and has delivered a lot of DSM at relatively low cost.  That is one of the things that we can learn by talking about it and trying it out, is whether it would be a good tool here.


Finally, Mr. O'Leary says the question is not on the table, Should the utilities be out of this business, the DSM business, the conservation business?  We are certainly not proposing that that question be put on this agenda.


There is no doubt that we operate currently on a pure utility model, and the biggest exceptions to a pure utility model is conservation, DSM.


So one could legitimately ask that question.  We are not proposing we do so.  What we are proposing is that the Board find out more information about the delivery vehicle and about price.  And it may be the next time around that some parties will say, Time to talk about whether utilities should be in that business.  But this time around, we don't have any information on which to have that debate.


The other possibility for this sort of pilot program is that rather than say to the utilities, You're out of the business, the Board can say to the utilities, Well, now we know what the fair market value of this activity is.  Now we have better information to set your budget, because we know what the ‑‑ the market has told us what the price is.


So in answer to Mr. O'Leary's question, we are not proposing that we debate whether they should be in the business in this hearing.  I don't know.  When we get to 1.11, that may not be true anymore, but that is not our issue.  So those are our submissions.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, I have a couple of questions for you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MS. NOWINA:  One I guess is about prudence, and would not the appropriate time to test the prudence of how the utility goes about its business, including DSM expenditures, be in the rate hearing process?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.  And the appropriate time to actually set the budget and the appropriate time to do a lot of things is in the rate process.


What we are doing in this process, as I understood it anyway, is setting a framework so that when you get to the rate hearing, you have the right tools and you have the right structure to make those decisions efficiently.  


One of the tools that this Board should have is some information on price, price discovery.


MS. NOWINA:  So you are looking at it as a data-gathering exercise, in part?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  We are contemplating proposing a pilot project so that we can learn about it.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

The other question was regarding the Board requiring the utility to outsource some DSM activities.  I agree with you they outsource a lot of activities.  Are you aware of any cases or decisions where the Board has required a utility to outsource a regulated activity while it remains a regulated activity?


MR. DINGWALL:  Madam Chair, I know you asked the question of Mr. Shepherd.  Hearing him hum and hah --


MS. NOWINA:  Any help, Mr. Dingwall.


MR. DINGWALL:  The analogy that comes directly to mind is with respect to the storage ‑- or the transactional services function within Enbridge, and the reason that analogy comes to mind is that once ‑‑ that function has moved to a mechanized electronic bulletin board trading system, whereby excess assets are identified, they're posted, and the competitive market then has an opportunity to bid on the acquisition of those assets.


I suggest that that is a good analogy, because it provides a very clear identification of assets.  It provides a very clear and defined open process for the marketplace to then have the opportunity to bid on those assets within a specific time frame.  And while it has only been in place for the early part of this year, it is a very direct example of what is essentially a regulated activity then transitioning to the competitive marketplace for price transparency.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The extra time I had there didn't help me, because I couldn't think of a specific example, although Brian was helpful.


But I would point out that the necessary implication of Mr. O'Leary's argument is that this Board doesn't have any say in build-or-buy decisions.  That can't be right.  It just can't be right.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

All right, thank you very much.  We will go on to issue 1.11.  

Mr. Shepherd, are you the proponent of this?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  That is CME, I think.


ISSUE 1.11:


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Issue 1.11, as it is drafted, is somewhat broader and more generic than issue 1.10, but some of the arguments that are based around 1.10 also apply to 1.11.


There's been this debate over the past number of years as to what appropriate levels of incentive and mechanisms of incentive are necessary for DSM conducted through the utilities.


The basis for that has been that the utilities have always put forward that DSM is not a specific function identified and enumerated within the OEB Act that is an obligation of their business of running the franchise, and, therefore, in order to attract management attention - the buzz phrase that's been used in the recent Enbridge case - they require significant incentives to do that.


They have reiterated that comment, Enbridge has specifically, at page 52 of their argument when they were answering the Board's question of whether an SSM is necessary.  They stated:  

"An incentive mechanism is needed to ensure DSM remains an important business activity and not just a regulatory obligation."


What this raises is the question of whether or not DSM is an appropriate function for a monopoly.  Is it something that is a result of there being a natural regulated monopoly?


The monopoly of a natural gas service franchise is a geographical one.  It doesn't make sense to have two pipes going down the same street.  But the function of demand side management is not one that is enumerated within the statute, contrary to what Mr. O'Leary might be suggesting, and is not one that the utilities have been content to provide within the realm of their return-on-equity calculation.  It has always required something more.  


So at the end of the day, then, how do we determine ‑‑ and this is where we get to the similarities between 1.11 and 1.1.  How do we determine whether the price that is being paid for DSM is appropriate?  How do we determine whether the price that the utilities are asking to continue the function is even in the ballpark of what the marketplace would provide for that?


And that is where the question comes up of whether or not there should be competition for the provision of DSM services.  Certainly with the government setting the agenda of new agencies and mandating the participation of electricity LDCs in the area of demand management, and certainly with the federal government having made a number of initiatives over the past several years, moving towards the establishment of an emissions trading portfolio and system, clearly the utilities are not ‑‑ or the utilities here in this room today are not the only players in the market.


So the question then arises as to whether or not they should continue to have a monopoly control over the provision of these services and the exclusive right to provide those services.


There has been, to date, no competitive process to establish what the market price for these services could be.  All we've had is the continual year-on-year suggestions from the utilities as to what their shareholder wants in order to continue to provide these services, in addition to their distribution services.


Additionally, both Union and Enbridge have acknowledged that there is an inherent conflict of interest in the provision of demand side management services and their core business.  The more gas that is saved as a result of the demand side management programs, the lower their revenues become.


In addition, we also believe the true cost of DSM, as stated by the utilities, is not correctly stated, because in the presentation not all of the costs of DSM are presented.


It is our view that the only way to keep the provision of DSM services within the realm of market‑based pricing, a phrase that is very popular in Ontario regulation these days, is to actually look at the market.  And to look at the market, we need to be clear that these services should not be bound within the framework of a monopoly.  That creates certain barriers to entry and they should be procured on a competitive basis.


The door should be left open to procure these services competitively on a generic basis and the utilities should, given their track record, have the opportunity to compete to provide these services, but they should compete with others.  It's conceivable that Union might bid to or seek to provide DSM services in the Enbridge franchises.  


It would be interesting to see Enbridge bid on what they could do DSM in Union's franchise for.  It would also be interesting, and certainly provide us with a lot of knowledge, to see what others would do, whether they would require the same levels of incentives and return in order to achieve the same degree of savings.


Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

Parties in support of Mr. Dingwall's submissions?


MS. DADE:  Direct Energy is in support of that.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Other parties?


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, if there’s no one else, I would speak in opposition.


We have -- I previously said to you this theory should be expansive and allow people to have their day in court.


The difference between issue 1.10 as proposed and issue 1.11 is vast, in our view.


1.11 opens up a question which is, I grant you, a very legitimate question, but that involves government policy, legislative structure, regulation.  It involves ‑‑ if we look at the Board's objectives with respect to gas regulation in Section 2(5), it is to promote energy conservation and energy efficiency in a manner consistent with the policies of the Government of Ontario.  That suggests we would obviously have to embark on an examination of what the policies of the Government of Ontario are in this area.  Have they changed?


It strikes us that this is a very big question and very much a preliminary question.  One answer to that, the question posed in 1.11, would obviate the need for, presumably, the rest of the hearing here.  And so it seems to me, if we are going to have that debate, I'm not sure this is the right forum for it, but I am quite sure that it not just be rolled into the debate about how we regulate gas DSM, which is what most of us, I think, think this hearing is about.


This is about, in effect, not regulating gas DSM.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  

Mr. Smith, Mr. O'Leary, do you have submissions?


MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  I agree with the submissions of Mr. Poch, to the extent that the question, as I interpret it, would open up that broader question in this proceeding, whether or not natural gas utilities should be undertaking DSM.


I thought, and I submit on behalf of Enbridge, that was an issue that had long ago since been decided and was not, according to my reading of the notice of proceeding, one that was going to be brought up in this proceeding.  But if that question -- I am assuming that we're correct in that, but another reading of this question which arises, I come back to the arguments made earlier about jurisdiction, and that my earlier submissions apply equally here, both jurisdictionally and practically speaking.  But if you look at 1.11, it states:  

"Should a natural gas utility have the exclusive right to provide DSM services?"


Well, stop there for a moment.  I don't believe either utility is suggesting that it has an exclusive right to provide DSM services.  If there is an unregulated third party that wishes to provide DSM services, they're at liberty to do it.  But this Board doesn't have the jurisdiction to say, No, you can't, to that unregulated third party.


So the question is:  Why ask the question in the first place?


They have added, then, if I continue down the

question a little further, the question becomes, “have the exclusive
right to provide DSM services with ratepayer money.”


Again, I ask:  What possible answer could this Board come up with that is within its jurisdiction?  Does it have the jurisdiction to provide ratepayer money to an unregulated third party?  Our respectful submission is, No, you have neither the jurisdiction nor the ability to control that third party.


So it becomes a question of unnecessarily confusing the issues list by adding questions that may be of academic interest but are beyond the ability of this Panel to make an order on that would have any meaningful impact from the perspective of the utilities and conservation in this province.


All of my comments, as I indicated earlier with respect to the practicalities of it, which I made in respect of issue 1.10 equally apply here, but I won't repeat them.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  

Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  I adopt Mr. O'Leary's submissions.  While I think the question, at a very high level, may be different than 1.10, as soon as you drill down on it a little bit, as Mr. Dingwall did in his submissions, you ultimately get to the question as to whether or not the utility ought to be ordered to procure DSM services from another unregulated entity.  


Of course, the utilities are the only two bodies that collect ratepayer money.  So you have to ask yourself:  Does this Board have the jurisdiction to order the utilities to do that?  I adopt Mr. O'Leary's submission that you do not.


On that point, I would point out that there is a fundamental difference between the Board, as it often does in a cost-of-service proceeding, enquiring as to the prudence or reasonableness of costs incurred by the utility for services delivered by an affiliate, and the Board can then make orders as to disallowance of those costs or not, and the proactive step of actually ordering a utility to go out and get that service from an unregulated entity, which is fundamentally a different position.  And I think the two ought not to be confused, as Mr. Shepherd commingled them in his submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, with considerable reluctance ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, I was going to return to you after we heard from Board Staff, if we can do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm actually --


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, it was Mr. Dingwall's submission.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's hard to tell us apart, I know.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.  I'm sorry, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to reluctantly oppose the inclusion of 1.11.  


Despite the fact that our sort of general view is issues lists should make sure that you get to debate everything that might be relevant, in this particular case, the essence of this is should the Board say, in this proceeding, Gas utilities, you're out of the DSM business?  That is the essence of the issue.


Aside from the fact it is a little bit unfair to the gas utilities to have it come up on the issues list when they didn't know, in the Notice of Hearing, that that was going to be discussed, I think the practical reality is this is a premature debate.  It may be that it is a debate sometime in the future, and I don't even know what position we will take when it comes to that.  But first you need to have an evidentiary base in which to discuss it, and you don't.


You have a history of 20 years of the gas utilities doing all of the DSM.  How are you going to be able to determine whether they should still do that?


Well, one of the things that we've suggested in 1.10 is that you find some stuff out, and then maybe three years from now, when we have this whole joyous discussion again, CME can come in and say at that time, with an evidentiary background, it's time to talk about whether they should be out of the business; or indeed the evidence may prove it is no longer an issue, because they're in fact doing a better job than the marketplace can. 


So, unfortunately, I think we have to oppose the inclusion of this issue.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

Anyone else before we go to Board Counsel?  

Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I think this issue has been well canvassed by the parties, and I can't say I really have much to add.  I think I will leave it.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

Mr. Dingwall, do you have any concluding remarks?


MR. DINGWALL:  I do have some concluding remarks.  I don't resemble Mr. Shepherd, first of all.

[Laughter]


MS. NOWINA:  It's not as though I haven't spent enough time with you.


MR. DINGWALL:  I think there's been something of a mischaracterization of the issue.  It is not a question of should the utilities be in the business or out of the business.  The question is:  Should they have to compete for the business?  They could compete with each other.  That would meet the regulatory test.  There would be no question of jurisdiction there, and they're both regulated entities.  They would both be using ratepayer money.


More broadly, should they compete with third parties?  And, yes, we think that should be the case, too.  Mr. Shepherd suggested something of a pilot program to begin to give an indication of what the market would provide similar services for, and we think that that obligation or that that suggestion be taken a step further.


Now, Mr. O'Leary has raised the question of the Board's jurisdiction.  Mr. Poch, who Mr. O'Leary agreed with - and we can note that for the history books - raised the objects clause in the OEB Act as being kind of the genesis of DSM practices within the province.


There are few key elements that come out of that.  It is an object clause that gives the Board jurisdiction over DSM, but it is not an object clause that directs the Board to conduct DSM specifically and only through a gas utility.


The Board, additionally, has the ability to levy utilities for its charges.  Whether its charges include the operation of additional programs that are directly administered by the Board, that, frankly, I think is open to interpretation and could well be accepted.  


So I don't believe that the jurisdictional question has been absolutely and correctly responded to.


Now, with respect to the practicality, there are a number of ways of implementing competition.  I have made reference to one, which is, Let the utilities bid with each other.


We might even find that NRG is the provincial expert on DSM that comes out leading the market.  There are five distribution utilities in the province.  They could be a first step.  


A second step could be the Board directing Enbridge or Union to tender out volumes of TRC savings, or volumes of any other metric that the Board results with from this process, to third parties.  And I believe Mr. O'Leary and Mr. Smith made reference to the fact that the Board doesn't regulate third parties.


Prior to the OEB Act coming out in '98, there was a form of energy commodity competition that took place with the contractual ‑‑ simply with contractual relationships.  That was called the old buy/sell.  It took place prior to the regulation of third party service providers.  


There are ways, through contracts, of capturing a DSM provider relationship.  There could be a standardized contract with performance bonds.  The contract form, if approved by the OEB, could then be administered by the LDCs as a stopgap, or it could be administered directly by the OEB.


But in order to determine that we've got full price transparency and full competition in respect of provision of DSM services, we need to find a way to open up those services to competition.  And for that reason, I suggest that the issue be placed on the list and that we have the opportunity to canvas that within this hearing.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

The Board Panel doesn't have any questions.  

ISSUE 14.3:

MS. NOWINA:  We will move on to the next contested issue, which is issue 14.3.  The proponent of 14.3 is?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That's Pollution Probe, I believe, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Do you want to go ahead, Mr. Klippenstein?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you.  

First of all, that proposed and contested item, 14.3, has some wording that I think can be slightly improved on without any controversy, simply because the present wording seems to suggest AN enquiry into what are appropriate funding levels, and that may be misconceived.


The concept was supposed to be more like 1.3 of the proposed issues list, which says: 

“How should the financial budget be determined?”


I would like to begin by just suggesting that 14.3 could be slightly amended to strike out the words "what are the appropriate", and substitute "how should the".


Then at the end, add "be determined", so that it would now read:  

“How should the funding levels and targets for the gas utilities electricity to natural gas fuel-switching programs be determined?”


I think that that wording better captures the intention and fits a generic hearing a little better and doesn't ‑‑ isn't open to the interpretation that the Board is being asked to set funding levels.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Klippenstein, would you also put "if yes", or "if so", because it does follow from the other two questions? 


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  The words "if so" would be --


MR. VLAHOS:  At the beginning of the sentence.


MR. RUBIN:  If I can interlude while my friend is thinking, I think that would tend to refer back to 14.2, whereas logically it should refer back to 14.1, so unless the order were changed, it may take more words than that.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  No.  I think the difficulty, Mr. Vlahos, is that this proposed issue is not linked to the ‑‑ to 14.1 and 14.2 as they're now set.  So it is free‑standing, if you will. 


So I think that the words wouldn't be necessary; the words "if so" wouldn't be necessary.


The Board does now set funding levels and targets for fuel switching.  So unless the question is intended to be broader than what is proposed, then those words wouldn't be necessary, in my submission.


MR. VLAHOS:  Does this help me?  The Board sets those now?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  There are now fuel-switching programs that are set by the Board in each rate case under review, so that it is already existing in every rate case.


MR. VLAHOS:  I thought we were just looking at DSM afresh.


MR. SMITH:  I think, Mr. Vlahos, if I might be of some assistance, I believe Pollution Probe used fuel switching conceptually as different from DSM.  So I believe Pollution Probe would say, in answer to question 1:  Is it appropriate to use DSM funds for fuel switching to natural gas?  No, it's not, because fuel switching is different than DSM.  But they would then say:  But the utilities should be engaged in fuel switching.  They should just use a different pot of money.  I think that...


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  That helps a lot.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you for that clarification.  Mr. Smith is right, that they are conceptually different, although we do say they overlap in some ways.  So thank you for that clarification, Mr. Vlahos.  


So on that basis, as I have noted, the rationale for that contested issue addition begins with the fact that the Board has always approved or reviewed and approved fuel-switching budgets for gas utilities, as it is now, in rate cases.  

But the reason Pollution Probe is raising this now is there are certain realities, and I have in mind things like the government's clear policy of the coal phase-out and the government's desire to protect low‑income consumers with respect to energy cost increases that make it appropriate at this time, in that context, to ask whether fuel-switching programs by the utility should be conducted more aggressively, perhaps even much more aggressively, so that there should be more fuel switching to natural gas.


Right now, something like 33 percent of Ontario's residential electricity consumption is for electric space and water heating.


Right now, the prospect appears of building natural gas‑fired power plants at some significant cost to meet that need, and the question is whether fuel switching can do that more cheaply.


So the possible benefits of fuel switching or more aggressive or perhaps much more aggressive fuel-switching programs that would make sense for review at this particular time are five‑fold, if I may characterize them that way.


First of all, fuel switching can offer lower electricity rates for all customers, to the extent it can avoid building high‑cost plants for electricity that are natural gas‑fired.  The reason that results in lower rates is that those high‑cost natural gas-powered electricity plants are at a marginal cost that is higher than the existing average.


So if fuel switching can avoid those plants, it reduces the rates for all customers.


The second benefit of increased fuel switching applies particularly to those consumers who do the switching.  They get lower energy bills, in my submission, by switching from natural gas to ‑‑ or to natural gas from electricity.  So that category gets lower bills.


Thirdly, I have mentioned that the government has expressed concern about low‑income consumers.  They too, as other consumers, would get lower energy bills.  So it has a definite advantage at this particular time for that group of consumers.


The fourth benefit relates to the gas plants, and specifically the reality that the building of new gas plants results in local opposition, sometimes going under the term “newbie opposition,” which is a familiar phenomenon and has been experienced in downtown Toronto very recently.  So this kind of fuel switching can avoid that phenomenon.


Finally, fifthly, a benefit of fuel switching is an overall increase in energy efficiency, which comes at this point from the fact that, thanks to many years of work on, for example, natural gas furnaces, they can now operate at an efficiency of 90 or 95 percent efficiency with respect to the use of natural gas.  You compare that to the efficiency of the electricity-generating natural gas plants, and that isn't as high.


The proposed Port Lands Power Plant at the waterfront in Toronto, for example, for generating electricity with natural gas, as I understand it, has an efficiency of in the area of 56 percent.


So by fuel switching, the actual increase in energy efficiency of technological developments in furnaces, if you will, over the last years can be taken advantage of.  


So there I would submit there are five solid benefits to be considered potentially from more aggressive fuel switching at this time.


Let me just comment on a couple of points.  One is the role of the OPA.  

It may be thought that issues like phasing out coal and protection of low‑income consumers are the mandate of the OPA and that that is a reason for not dealing with it at the OEB, not putting it on the issues list.


In my submission, to some extent, it is definitely true that those are issues for the OPA, but it doesn't follow that that displaces the OEB's contribution.


The reality is that the OPA does not regulate the gas utilities.  It doesn't have that authority.  The OEB does. Further, the promotion of cost-effective fuel switching, I would suggest, is squarely within the explicit OEB mandate and the objectives in the Act.  In section 2 of the Act, of course, it is mandatory.  It says that the Board shall be guided by some objectives. 


I would just highlight objectives 1 and 5.  Number 1 says:  

"To facilitate the rational expansion of transmission and distribution systems."  


So the words "rational" and "expansion" are overlapping, in my submission, with the concept of efficient and cost-effective fuel switching.


The fifth objective is, of course, to promote energy conservation and energy efficiency in a manner consistent with the policies of the Government of Ontario.  Those highlight the fact that the OEB has an overall perspective province-wide, across fuels.  So fuel switching is certainly, in an overall sense, a way to, in some cases, promote energy conservation province wide.


I mentioned that the OEB usually does review and approve fuel-switching budgets in specific rate cases.  There is, in terms of practicality, already evidence filed in this proceeding by Union Gas that ‑‑ and that is at Exhibit A, tab 2, pages 27 and 29, which accepts the continuation of the importance of fuel switching and says:

"The Board can send a strong message and set a positive policy direction by approving a specific fuel-switching program for natural gas utilities.  Union proposes that a separate fuel-switching program be approved by the Board.  The program would set budgets and report results in a similar fashion to DSM programs.  The budget for fuel switching should be set in the same way as the DSM budget.  A maximum budget of 2 percent of distribution revenue should be established in rates for the duration of the fuel switching plan."


So that highlights, maybe from a utility perspective, the point related to what you were saying or questioning, Mr. Vlahos, is that although there are very significant similarities between the fuel-switching idea and the DSM program, that they overlap and Union suggests that the budgeting process should be similar, they are separate and distinct, but there is overlap and it makes sense to handle the two together.


They also note that a maximum budget of up to 2 percent of distribution revenue should be established in rates for the fuel switching.


So that is an example, in my submission, of why it is sensible and rational to have that in the issues list at this point.


That is also an example of where the special expertise and the practical procedures that this Board already has go beyond what the OPA could manage, in my respectful submission.  So it makes sense to handle a very significant part of that issue in this forum, rather than excluding it here on the assumption that somebody else will look at it.


The addition of this proposed issue would, of course, not result in a fully specific idea here.  The utilities would then be expected to come forward with fuel-switching details and budgets and so forth in their subsequent, more specific individual rate proposals.  So that would then be dealt with at that point.  


But the general question here is:  In the context of things like the coal phase‑out, which is official government policy and which everyone is recognizing is a real challenge and the special challenge of low‑income consumers, that the usefulness, broadly speaking, of more aggressive fuel switching would usefully be considered here.


Some of the ‑‑ although fuel switching is, as was mentioned, not normally in the same definition of DSM, the types of benefits are the same.  As I mentioned, there is increased energy efficiency, lower bills, less pollution, so a lot of the considerations are the same.


As Union mentioned in its evidence, there is some sense in setting budgets in the same way, using the same techniques.


The time of this particular hearing, in terms of giving guidance to the utilities for the next year and in terms of the province's energy efficiency issues, in my submission, point to this being a good time to look at the general principles of more aggressive fuel switching.


Those are all of my submissions with respect to the first of the proposed contested issues, 14.1. ‑‑ 14.3, I'm sorry.


The next two are in a somewhat different subject matter, so I am in your hands.


MS. NOWINA:  Let's handle those separately, Mr. Klippenstein.  Thank you.  

Are there parties who support Mr. Klippenstein's proposal?  


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I do, on behalf of GEC, and I have one point to add.  That is, I refer the Board to ‑ I will read it into the record for those that don't have it at hand - the Procedural Order No. 2 in the EB‑2005‑0520 case, which is the Union Gas 2007 main rates case.


At page 3 thereof, under the heading “Issue 7.4”:   

"Are the proposed budgets and targets for fuel-switching programs appropriate?"


There, the Board said:

"The Board will not hear issue 7.4 in this case.  The Board will deal with fuel switching in the same fashion as the DSM issues, which is to postpone consideration of the issue until after the completion of the DSM generic hearing.  A procedural process to consider the outcomes of the DSM generic proceeding that are pertinent to this application will be available in due course.  It is envisioned that the DSM generic hearing will inform the development of the issues for that procedural process."


We took our cue from that.  We were a little concerned with the initial wording, but the rewording that Mr. Klippenstein has provided you with today, I think, is the right balance.  It is suggesting to the parties here that the issue for this case is the architecture questions, the "should" questions and how should the Board develop future direction to the utilities with respect to targets and budgets.  


And we leave the specifics to this next phase, and that although there is ‑‑ you were referred to some evidence where there is a proposal put forward by one of the utilities, I think it is fair to say that we really don't have an evidentiary base at this point to get into that level of detail, and this would solve this problem by the way Mr. Klippenstein worded it.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  

Anyone else in support of the recommendation?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, we believe that this naturally follows from the discussion of fuel switching, which is already on the issues list, and we think it is appropriate that it be included, 14.3.


MR. JACKSON:  Madam Chair, with the wording changes that have been suggested by Mr. Klippenstein, LIEN supports this being on the issues list.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Jackson.  

Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  VECC also supports 14.3.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. DINGWALL:  CME is also in favour of 14.3.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall.


Do the utilities have a position?


MR. SMITH:  Not to jump the queue on my friend, but you will have taken it from Mr. Klippenstein and reading from Union's evidence that we don't oppose the inclusion of the evidence.  If the Board wants to enquire into fuel switching in this proceeding, we are prepared to do so.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  

Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, we are not opposed to the issue of it being considered in this proceeding.


From Enbridge's perspective, as you may recall from the '06 proceeding, the company had initially included in its DSM plan fuel switching, an amount of around $4 million, if memory serves.  As a result of an agreement between the parties, it was actually moved over in the O&M budget, and that is where it remains.


So the issue of whether it should continue to be considered as part of the O&M budget within a main rate case, or within the confines of the DSM plan as a separate budgeted item, is an issue that appears live.  But I thought I would express to you that it was our belief that that is where it would likely remain and where intervenors thought it would remain.  


As a result, Enbridge has not actually filed any evidence in respect of fuel switching.  We may, therefore, require an ability to reply to any proposals that my friends may put forward.


With that being said, the only -- if I could offer it as a friendly amendment to the wording of 14.3, is that we would suggest that the wording would be preferable and clearer, but it would read:  How should funding levels and targets, and add the words "if any".  


The reason we suggest adding the words "if any", it relates to the word "targets", in that some parties, and specifically Enbridge, would likely be taking the position that it is not appropriate to set targets.  In fact, we see that that is inconsistent with a streamlined process for fuel switching and DSM in the future.  


So we would simply ask that as a friendly amendment.  I don't know if Mr. Klippenstein is agreeable to that, or not.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  In principle, I have no disagreement, as long as -- as I understand my friend's concern, the "if any" is intended to apply to targets and not to raise whole, broader sets of questions beyond that.  It is the targets that are the issue of the amendment; have I got the understanding correct, through you, Madam Chair?


MR. O'LEARY:  Certainly my comments were in respect to targets, but I wouldn't want to impose on others.  If they felt that there should not be any funding levels, they would be able to argue that presumably under 14.1 or 14.3. 


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  All right, I will concede.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. O'LEARY:  That was too easy.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I don't want to be ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  I am assuming that no one else who agreed with Mr. Klippenstein has a problem with adding the words "if any"?  Does Board Staff have a position or comment?


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, we neither support nor oppose the addition of -- I would point out that it does seem to me that issue 14.3, as it is now worded, may add some clarity and specificity to the fuel-switching issue as a whole, so we are not opposed to it.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Poch or Mr. Klippenstein, I am directing this question to both of you.  It seems to me that you were there during the 169‑2 or -3, whatever it was.  Despite all of those years, you still don't look alike, by the way.

[Laughter]


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  The colour toning is converging towards a certain colour in the hair.


MR. POCH:  At least you still have hair.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sure you probably know this.  Was fuel switching a section in that report or a commentary?  I just don't recall.


MR. POCH:  I don't believe so.  My memory is not, and perhaps for the reasons that I think are apparent, that fuel switching doesn't require the same incentives to the utility, for example.  It doesn't require some of the same mechanisms, although it obviously is pursuing some of the same goals.


MR. VLAHOS:  You don't recall whether it was ‑‑


MR. POCH:  My recollection is that it was not.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That is my recollection as well, Mr. Vlahos.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, gentlemen.


MS. NOWINA:  Shall we go on to issue 14.4, then, Mr. Klippenstein?


ISSUES 14.4 AND 14.5:


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Issue 14.4 and issue 14.5, as proposed and as contested, both relate to rental programs and, therefore, fairly similar in subject and is just address different issues.


So perhaps I will address those together, if that is all right?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, please, Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  The issue of ‑‑ well, perhaps I can just read them as proposed.


14.4 says:

"Should the utilities be permitted and encouraged to establish rental programs to facilitate fuel switching to high efficiency natural gas technologies?"


And 14.5:   

"What are the barriers to establishment of rental programs to facilitate fuel switching to high efficiency gas technologies?"


The obvious issue that comes to mind with this is that this has been somewhat dealt with by the Board over the years gone by, and some people will say it's been exhaustively dealt with and that the decision for what some call a pure utility model has been made and it is done.  And certainly there has been some great consideration to the issue of the utilities being involved in rental programs.


They moved away from that, to a very large extent, but there are some -- since then, some developments and some new realities which, in my respectful submission, would make the issue of rental programs by utilities something worth considering at this time.


One is that to certainly my surprise ‑ and I think many people's surprise ‑ the overall market share of natural gas water heaters in homes in Ontario has begun to decline.  And I think that is incontrovertible and has been the subject of evidence in one or several recent hearings.


Certainly that came as a surprise to me as someone who participated in all of those hearings, because I don't recall that ever being discussed as a possibility.  It may have been, or it may have been a theoretical possibility, and I don't recall it being a significant concern or factor in the Board's discussions and decisions and reasons, the fact that compared to electricity the overall usage of natural gas water heaters in Ontario would actually decline vis-à-vis electricity, for example.


I think the discussions tended to be about potential additional savings to consumers that would come from competitive markets and from competition between various non‑utility and, instead, private suppliers of these services; that there would be increased efficiency and so forth.


I'm not sure whether one can go so far as to say that now over the last few years some real evidence from the real world is now coming in and that hasn't panned out.  I don't want to go beyond the evidence as it now stands.  The trend is not enormous, and it hasn't been for a great many of years, to my knowledge, but the fact of the percentage of home owners using natural gas water heating being in decline is, in my submission, a new fact that bears consideration at this point.


In my submission, an important part of that is that the upfront capital cost of natural gas water heaters is much larger than electricity.  Everybody kind of knew that, I think, over the years, but now the reality is right out there.


Anybody can walk into any major home supply store, Big Box or otherwise, and it takes you two seconds to look at the prices and see that natural gas water heaters are, to a large extent ‑ I'm talking often hundreds of dollars ‑ cheaper than ‑‑ sorry, electricity heaters are cheaper than natural gas.  And for the normal people, unlike those of us in this room who are absorbed in this stuff, if you are standing there ‑‑ I'm not giving evidence under oath now, but if you are a normal person standing there and in two seconds you see several hundred dollars of price difference, and if natural gas heating is not the prime thing you're trying to get done within your life, there is an enormous issue.


And that leaves aside the issue of whether ‑‑ of getting natural gas piping into your house and how to vent the water heater, which electricity doesn't require.


So these theoretical issues about upfront capital cost and related issues, in my submission, are very real now, and there are different ways to overcome that issue of upfront capital cost.


In fact, there has been serious discussion these days of a direct subsidy, a monetary payment to customers, to bridge that upfront price difference.  But some of the numbers I have seen thrown around for that are in the hundreds of millions of dollars.  The underlying logic for discussing this at all is the idea that it actually makes sense to have natural gas water heaters rather than electric and that the upfront capital cost difference is a bit of a ‑‑ only a part of the picture, and that thoughtful consumers or others looking at not only environmental issues of pollution, but of long‑term cost over the lifespan, might make a different decision.


Again, what partly makes this relevant now is that a competitive marketplace, it appears, has not necessarily overcome the information and upfront capital-cost-barrier issues that are there.  And certainly somebody could say, Well, so what?  All of this just shows that the market share should be lower.  


But I suspect that taking into ‑‑ taking into account these other factors, they're very identifiable, upfront sticker shock and other factors.  It is not at all clear that the real, rational decision is being made.


The other option to deal with these issues, to the extent people accept it as an issue, other than giving large grants directly to customers ‑ and those are a cross-subsidy, it may be said quite rightly - that large grants to customers, to bridge the cost difference and encourage people to make a natural gas decision, that's a cross-subsidy, no doubt about it. 


The other option is to establish a rental program.  That, in my submission, overcomes the upfront capital cost to the customer.  It requires no cross-subsidy.  It's a much lower cost to gas ratepayers, and it would bring into play the other identifiable advantages of natural gas water heating.  It would have a direct advantage to low‑income customers, without any specific cross-subsidy to them.  


And so, in my submission, it may be time to at least look at the issue again in changed circumstances, with new information from the laboratory of life, if you will.


There are, if I may call them, ideological reasons not to look at it from the point of view of a particular view about the role of market policies.  There may be special interests that would be economically hurt by having that option put before customers.  But leaving those issues aside, in my submission, it is worth it at this time looking at this again.


With respect to the next sub-item, 14.5, I think it is -- that focuses on a specific sub-issue of rental programs, which is:  Are there any barriers of a legal nature?  Ones that potentially come to mind are existing Board orders or approvals that were made a number of years ago, limiting or contracts between the utilities and non‑regulated bodies who took over some of that work.  Non‑compete clauses, I understand there are -- I do recall there are, I think, some.  But some of those I think may be expiring soon.  Some may be expiring rather shortly in terms of years.  But those would have to be identified if this was a real factor, a real issue.


There may also be some of the original undertakings to the Lieutenant Governor in Council a number of years ago that may have certain restrictions.  Those are undeniably factors that would need to be looked at.  


But those would be my submissions as to why these two contested issues should be added to the issues list for discussion at this time.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.

[Board Panel confers]


MS. NOWINA:  Parties supporting Mr. Klippenstein's submission?


MR. POCH:  Very briefly, Madam Chair.  GEC supports the inclusion of this issue.  We think it is timely, for the reasons that Mr. Klippenstein has elaborated on.


I think our concern is, arguably, this could be left to be just part of the implementation question in each planning period when the utility is coming forward with its plan, whether it is pursuing good avenues for DSM or good avenues for fuel switching in this case.


But I think, as you will see from the intervention of HVAC and Direct, this is a bit of a lightening rod, this issue.  So rather than have the Board deal with the policy issues surrounding this repeatedly, I think it is wise for the Board to consider including it in this hearing so that there can be an airing of those policy issues and a generic ruling with respect thereto.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  

Others?  Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Actually, VECC would submit that rather than focussing just on the one type of program, the rental program, if you are going to include 4 and 5, they should be expanded to include other types of program, consideration of other types of program for facilitating fuel switching.  That is what we would add.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MS. NOWINA:  Let me ask Mr. Klippenstein a question regarding that comment.


Does the wording of 14.3, if we should add it to the issues list, preclude the discussion of fuel-switching programs, whatever they may be, or might it fall under that?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I wouldn't say it necessarily precludes it, but it does look like it would, in the sense that it talks about funding targets and levels.


Without anything more, that would probably not be clear enough, in my submission.


MS. NOWINA:  So we don't have an issue that deals with programs, as it is now ‑‑ as they're now written.  Is that your submission?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, certainly 14.3 deals with fuel-switching programs, so you can call them programs.  But beyond that, no.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Other submissions in support of Mr. Klippenstein's proposal?


MR. JACKSON:  Madam Chair, LIEN supports the inclusion of this topic for the reasons cited by Mr. Klippenstein and Mr. Poch.  And basically our view is that the circumstances have changed sufficiently and this is one of the ideas that should be explored.  I will leave it at that, but we are in support of it being on the issues list.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Jackson.  

Anyone else?  Anyone opposed?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, HVAC opposes ‑‑ is opposed to the inclusion of these issues on the list.


Establishing a rental program under the guise of a DSM program would necessarily, in our view, involve some sort of ‑‑ involve the utilities providing these services in a manner which involves some sort of subsidy, through rates, in order to encourage customers to purchase either gas water heaters or gas furnaces.


This approach was specifically rejected by the Board in EBRO-495.  The issue of costing of non‑utility services was the subject of extensive evidence during the EBRO-495 decision.  A number of ratepayer groups, as well as HVAC, argued during that proceeding that the system of incremental pricing favoured by Consumers Gas amounted to a cross-subsidy, for example, the rental water heater services, by ratepayers through rates.


The Ontario Coalition Against Poverty, for example, argued that such a subsidy:

"...distorts pricing by overpricing utility services, which results in emitting the wrong price signals leading to economic inefficiencies and, therefore, to wrong business decisions."


The Board accepted the argument put forward by consumer groups and HVAC and ordered the utilities to charge for these services on a fully allocated basis.


Now, in response to that decision, the utilities simply withdrew from the rental water heater market.  


Reopening this issue now would, in effect, force the utilities to re-enter a market that they believed was best left to the competitive market.


The Board also said in EBRO-495 ‑ this is at paragraph 2.1.51 of that decision - that it is guided by the belief that the Board should not needlessly impede competition.  


In HVAC's view, a water heater rental program subsidized by gas ratepayers would do just that.  We would endorse Mr. DeRose's submissions, on behalf of IGUA, that reconsidering whether utilities should re-enter the rental tall business at this time would be a step backwards.


Now, I have heard Mr. Klippenstein's argument that things have changed now in a sense that ‑‑ referring to the fact that the rental or the ‑‑ sorry, the share of gas water heaters has fallen.  Well, in our view, the answer to that is for utilities to work with the industries -- with the industry to develop initiatives to reverse that trend and not to engage in anti‑competitive actions which would drive members of the industry out of business.


On that note, I would also add that some of the examples that Mr. Klippenstein referred to are already offered by the market, such as financing is available by the market so that someone doesn't have to pay the entire upfront cost of a furnace or a water heater on their bill.  They can finance it.


So it is not necessary, in our view, to have the utilities re-enter this market.


Those are our submissions, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  

Anyone else opposing the addition of these items?


MR. RUBIN:  Energy Probe supports the written submission of IGUA as contained in Mr. DeRose's letter to the Board dated April 27th, supports his position and his arguments; bottom line, that the issues of 14.4 and 5 should be argued, if at all, in rates cases and not in this generic hearing.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Maybe we should just pause for a moment for those of you who got the latest e‑mails.  We did get submissions from a number of parties who are not present today.


Mr. Millar, would you just let people know that those exist, and if folks don't have them or don't have copies, perhaps you can let us know that and we can ensure that you do.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, as far as I am aware, there were three parties who have written in letters.  Those are CCC; Mr. Aiken, who is on for LPMA; and Mr. DeRose from IGUA.


We have copies of all of those here, if people are missing them, although I believe they were circulated to all parties.  It might make sense, Madam Chair, if we were to give exhibit numbers to these letters.


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we do that.


MR. MILLAR:  The first one would be the IGUA letter from Mr. DeRose, KI-1.3.


EXHIBIT NO. KI-1.3:  IGUA LETTER FROM MR. DeROSE

MR. MILLAR:  Following that, Mr. Warren's letter on behalf of CCC, KI-1.4.


EXHIBIT NO. KI-1.4:  CCC LETTER FROM MR. WARREN

MR. MILLAR:  Finally, Mr. Aiken's letter on behalf of London Property Management Association, KI-1.5.

EXHIBIT NO. KI-1.5:  LONDON PROPERTY MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATION LETTER FROM MR. AIKEN

MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone need hard copies of those that we have here today?


Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

Does anyone else want to speak in opposition to the proposal?


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, Union Gas opposes the inclusion of these two issues for the reasons hinted at by Mr. Klippenstein. 

First, this is a matter which has previously been determined by the Board.  In EBO-177‑17, Union sought prior approval for the transfer of its ancillary businesses, including rental businesses.


The Board concluded that Union's plan was consistent with the government's white paper on the issue.  The Board said specifically at page 23 of its decision:  

"The Board finds that in principle separation of the ancillary businesses from the regulated utility gas delivery business of Union is consistent with the Board's reports on utility diversification and its EBO-202 report of further deregulation of the natural gas industry in Ontario."


On the strength of that decision, Union went off and it did sell its ancillary business, which leads to two obstacles to the establishment of a rental program, which, in my view, should effectively preclude this Board from revisiting the issue.


First, the undertakings given by Union to the Lieutenant Governor in Council limited to the sale -- to the transmission, storage and distribution of natural gas.  This would be outside of those undertakings and require amendment.


Second, and more importantly, I suppose, at a certain level, Union, when it sold its natural gas rental program business, it entered into a non‑compete clause, which isn't set to expire until 2009.


So while we may, as Mr. Klippenstein indicated, want to embark on a discussion in proposed issue 14.5 on the barriers to entry, I would submit the barrier to entry is such that there is no effective discussion that could be had on this topic.  


Union simply can't be engaged in this business for a period of several years, during which time, as Mr. Klippenstein pointed out, the information he has is purely in its infancy.  It may be that the government wants to revisit this at the time that those non‑compete clauses expire, but in my submission we are far, far, far too premature.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  

Enbridge's position?


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, Enbridge only wishes to add several comments.  The concern that we had with the issues, as presented, related more to whether or not they were really drilling down into the specifics of program design versus what this proceeding is about, setting a framework for DSM going forward.


The fact that Mr. Buonaguro, I believe it was, expressed a concern about whether or not VECC would be permitted to raise other potential program design issues in the context of 14.4 gives Enbridge concern that this would become a licence for parties to debate what is an appropriate program, rather than looking at the framework issues.


So there is that concern.  There would be less concern if the Board made it clear that we would only be looking at "high level" issues at 14.4.


I was encouraged by Mr. Klippenstein's description of 14.5, where he mentioned that what is intended here is for the Board to consider legal‑type barriers, rather than what I thought he might have been referring to, which would be social or economic barriers, which are more program design.  So if it was limited to simply whether or not there are undertakings that have been given or, as Mr. Smith has referenced, possibly non‑compete provisions, then it is more of a framework issue.  


But, again, our concern is that 14.5 not be allowed to deteriorate down to a program design type of an issue, which we submit is inappropriate here.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, Schools Energy Coalition is also opposed to inclusion of these two issues.  We have three points.


First, we adopt the submission of IGUA with respect to the pure utility question.  These issues necessarily engage the debate on whether the pure utility model, which the Board has fought incrementally over 20 years to get to, should be revisited.


Whether or not that is a debate that we should have, it is not intuitive to me that a DSM proceeding is where you should have that debate.


There are much broader policy questions that have to be addressed here.  This strikes me as sort of shoe horning it in through the back door, which is not really appropriate.


That is the first point.


The second point is the rental programs existed because of subsidies, cross-subsidies from the ratepayers.  Schools paid tens of millions of dollars over the years to subsidize residential ratepayers so that they could have cheap hot water heaters.


Now Pollution Probe is proposing that we go and do that all over again, and we do it with furnaces, too.  Schools don't feel that that is something that they want to do. 

And that leads to the third point, which is:  If these issues are to be included in the issues list and we engage the broader question, that will mean a significantly larger debate in this hearing with expert evidence on competitive impacts, expert evidence on -- I assume ratepayer groups, including Schools, have to provide evidence on ratepayer impacts of this sort of program.  It will require a much more extensive discovery process.


And keep in mind that the debate that we already had on this, which culminated in '98 and '99, was a debate that took place over five years and took up an enormous amount of time.


If we do it again, my guess is we're going to take up just as much time to say all of the same things again, and for what end?


So it may well be that Pollution Probe is right and we are now at a point where we should revisit that issue, but, if so, then Pollution Probe should get the government or should get this Board to initiate a process to talk about the overall model and whether we are there ‑‑ we are where we want to be, or whether we should be changing the paradigm for the utilities; over their objections, I might add.


Those are our submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

Anyone else besides Board counsel?


Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, we don't take a position on the insertion of these issues.


I would like to point out, I guess, a concern about 14.5, if the Board were inclined to accept these issues.  Mr. Klippenstein's earlier remarks did help out.  I think you would want to put something in front of the word "barriers", whether it be legal or contractual, but just to make sure that is clear.  But, as a second matter, once that question is answered, I'm not sure if any direction or order flows from the Board.


I guess the answer to that question would be the barriers are X and Y, or something like that.  I'm not sure where that gets us, aside from identifying it.  It seems to be more of a research project than the outcome of a Board process.


So if that issue is to be included, I think the Board should consider that and either not accept that as an issue, or, if it is to be accepted, to state -- I guess the follow-up question is:  Once we've identified the barriers, what do we do about it?  What, if anything, is done about it?


So if that is to be accepted as an issue, I would recommend some type of alternate wording.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

Mr. Klippenstein, would you like to reply?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  I am particularly outraged by Mr. Shepherd's accusation that I am trying to shoehorn something in the back door.  I would never use a mixed metaphor like that.

[Laughter]


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Shoe‑horning something in the back door never occurred to me.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that the best argument you've got?

[Laughter]


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I'm grateful for my friend's comments, and I have a couple of specific points that were raised that are important that I would just like to respond to, if I might.


First of all, a number of parties have referred to a concern about subsidies and subsidies through rates.  That is not part of the issue or idea that Pollution Probe wishes to have considered here.  There is no cross-subsidy to customers obtaining a natural gas water heater through rental, because they pay the full costs of that item through their rates, through their rental rates, specifically.


So I do not put forward something that is, as far as I understand ‑‑ we understand it, would involve a cross-subsidy.


That is one of its strengths compared to the alternatives, because there has been discussion at a very high level of direct cross-subsidies, public discussion to OPA and in the OPA context, as I understand it, of direct cross-subsidies, and specifically to overcome the kind of barriers that are sticker shock barriers, and so forth.  And those do involve subsidies of, as I say, hundreds of millions of dollars by some calculations.


One may say this issue shouldn't be thought of at all, but if one has some concern about the decline of market share and what that holds for the future, then one does have to face the idea of subsidies or not.  And one advantage of the rental program is that there isn't a subsidy, because the customer pays it through rental rates, and that is a way of dealing with the sticker shock issue.


One of my friends quoted from a Board decision referring or stating that the Board should not needlessly impede competition, and there is no disagreement on that point.  But, as I said in my submission, there have been a number of years of competition, and competition is something that, in my submission, is of value or good that the Board must read together with other objectives that it is charged with.  


If competition does not appear to be doing the job, it is not the Board's mandate to preserve, enhance competition at the expense of customers or in priority to everything else.


What is different there is, as I say, competition does not appear, according to some of the indicators, to be preserving, let alone increasing, the role of natural gas advantages.


One of my friends mentioned that, in response to the issue of upfront capital cost, the private market is supplying financing.  But that raises the obvious question of:  Is that being effective?  Apparently not.


So that would even enhance, in my submission, the need to consider it now, because if there is private financing, it doesn't seem to be doing the job.  It may not be enough.  It may not be widespread enough.  It may not be easily available, and so forth.  So the capital cost sticker shock does not appear to be being addressed sufficiently.  


Also, of course, by putting it on the issue list, the Board would not be making a decision on that point, simply reviewing it.


Mr. Smith, for Union, noted a number of things, and he did repeat that the issue has been to some degree, in large degree, determined by the Board in the past.  But he did note that the Board was relying, in part, on the government white paper.


That government white paper, to some extent, was a product of its time.  Government white papers always are.  Times can change, as governments change.  So that, I guess, cuts both ways.


Mr. Smith mentioned that because of the contractual non‑compete clauses, in his case extending to 2009, there is a barrier to entry, which means no effective discussion can take place.  Leaving aside whether that is true for Union, my understanding is that is far from true for Enbridge.


My understanding is their contractual‑type limitations would expire very soon.  So, in my submission, with respect to at least one utility, it is certainly possible to have fruitful discussions about a real, live option.


Mr. O'Leary for Enbridge raised some concerns that I think I can lay to rest.  I certainly do not envision this as getting into program design.  I do see this as a framework issue.  I don't think it is necessary to get into the kind of, I think, social barriers or political barriers that he mentioned.  So I agree with him on that point.  


As a further correction, I think Mr. Shepherd or one of my other friends mentioned that the utilities were opposing.  I don't actually understand Mr. O'Leary's representations for Enbridge to be opposing the adoption of this issue, subject to the concerns that he expressed.


Mr. Shepherd referred to concerns about evidence, potential extra evidence required, and to some extent I think it is possible some additional evidence would be required.


I don't think it goes as far as he suggested.  I think he referred to Mr. Robert Warren for CCC, and LIEN and VECC, all potentially introducing evidence.


Now, however, I know ‑‑ it appears that LIEN and VECC do not oppose the addition of this, and I think Mr. Warren also has filed notice that he doesn't, for his client, oppose this.


So if there is a concern about evidence as a reason not to include this, those three parties I guess don't see that as a major issue.  I don't understand them to be objecting.


Finally, with respect to Mr. Millar's observations about the barriers, the one comment I might have is that ‑‑ I'm not sure he meant to convey this, but I don't see adding the 4.5 issue as being a sort of academic research project or being irrelevant. What I see it as doing is identifying the barriers, if any, and identification is the first step towards an assessment, a realistic, practical assessment, of whether there is anything that could be done, or should be done, or how it would be done.


For example, if there is an LGIC issue, I am sure it might be useful to the government to have that sensibly identified, so that if the government wished to facilitate this, it would have the expert view of the OEB as to how to do it.  But I don't think that the concerns Mr. Millar expressed need to be a big factor.


A moment's indulgence, if I may, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Subject to any questions from the Board, those are all of my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Vlahos.


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  Mr. Klippenstein, you're referring to the decline in the market share of gas water heaters.  I believe ‑‑ was it gas water heaters, or other equipment like heaters as well?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think it is gas water heaters that I am talking about, yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  You are relying on what evidence?  Is it something in the pre-filed evidence of the companies in this proceeding or something that you have taken administrative notice of?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That was in evidence in the last Enbridge hearing.  I remember cross‑examining on it, I believe, and I don't ‑‑ I can provide that to all of the parties.


MR. VLAHOS:  No, I just wanted to know the source of your point.  Thank you.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Madam Chair, through you, could I ask Ms. Dade what is the position of Direct Energy on this matter?


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Dade.


MS. DADE:  Yes.  We would like to have it taken out.  Direct doesn't support these.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We didn't hear from you earlier, Ms. Dade.


MS. DADE:  No.  I am new to this type of proceeding and I missed as it came around.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  Do you want to elaborate on that at all, Ms. Dade?


Thank you.  Thank you for asking, Mr. Vlahos.  

Is that it?  We have no further questions.  Are there any other matters the Board should consider at this time?


Thank you very much, everyone.  I think that concludes the submissions and discussion.  We will give you an answer as soon as we possibly can.


Our hearing is now adjourned.  

--- Whereupon the Issues Day concluded at 12:45 p.m. 
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